
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY 
SOUTHERN DIVISION AT PIKEVILLE 

 
__________________________________________ 
HILDA L. SOLIS, Secretary of Labor,  : 
United States Department of Labor,   : 
       : 
  Plaintiff,    : 
       : 
 v.      : Civil Action No. 10-132-ART 
       : 
FREEDOM ENERGY MINING COMPANY, : 
and       : 
SIDNEY COAL COMPANY, INC., d/b/a  : 
FREEDOM ENERGY MINING COMPANY, : 
       : 
  Defendants.    : 
__________________________________________: 
 

SECRETARY’S OPPOSITION TO 
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 

 
 The plaintiff, Hilda L. Solis, Secretary of Labor, United States Department of Labor, by 

and through her undersigned attorneys, pursuant to Local Rule 7.1(c), opposes the motion to 

dismiss filed by the defendants, Freedom Energy Mining Company and Sidney Coal Company, 

Inc., d/b/a Freedom Energy Mining Company (hereafter referred to jointly as “Freedom”), in the 

above-captioned matter.  Pursuant to Local Rule 7.1(e), a proposed order is attached.    

 The Secretary filed the instant action under Sections 108(a)(2) and 108(b) of the Federal 

Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977, as amended (the “Mine Act”), 30 U.S.C. §§ 818(a)(2), (b).  

The Secretary seeks a court order requiring Freedom to close its Mine #1 until it eliminates a 

pattern of violation that poses a continuing hazard to the health and safety of its miners, and 

requiring Freedom to take certain affirmative steps designed to achieve that result.  On 

December 8, 2010, Freedom filed a motion to dismiss the Secretary’s complaint pursuant to Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), asserting that the Secretary has not: (i) plead facts sufficient to state a 
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plausible claim; and (ii) attempted -- and failed -- to achieve improved compliance under Section 

104(e) of the Mine Act, 30 U.S.C. § 814(e).  For the reasons discussed below, the Secretary 

opposes the motion.  

THE LEGAL BACKGROUND 

 The factual allegations in a complaint must be sufficient to give notice to the defendant as 

to what claims are alleged.  Fritz v. Charter Tp. of Comstock, 592 F.3d 718, 722 (6th Cir. 2010).   

In reviewing a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b), the Court must determine whether the 

plaintiff has pleaded “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”  Bell 

Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007).  The Court must use its “judicial 

experience and common sense” in determining plausibility.  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 

1950 (2009).  All allegations in the complaint must be taken as true and the complaint must be 

construed liberally in favor of the non-movant.  Scott v. Ambani, 577 F.3d 642, 646 (6th Cir. 

2009).  Legal conclusions are not entitled to the assumption of truth, but they can provide the 

complaint’s framework.  Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1950.     

 The legal framework of the Secretary’s complaint consists of Sections 108(a)(2) and 

108(b) of the Mine Act.  30 U.S.C. § 818(a)(2), (b).  Section 108(a)(2) authorizes the Secretary 

to seek judicial relief whenever she believes that an operator is engaged in a pattern of violation 

which, in her judgment, poses a continuing hazard to the health or safety of miners.: 

The Secretary may institute a civil action for relief, including permanent or 
temporary injunction, restraining order, or any other appropriate order in the 
district court of the United States . . . whenever the Secretary believes that the   
operator of a coal or other mine is engaged in a pattern of violation of the 
mandatory health or safety standards . . . , which in the judgment of the Secretary 
constitutes a continuing hazard to the health or safety of miners. 

 
30 U.S.C. § 818(a)(2) (emphasis added).  Section 108(b) provides that the Court “shall have 

jurisdiction to provide such relief as may be appropriate,” and may “require such assurance or 
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affirmative steps as it deems necessary to assure itself that the protection afforded to miners 

under [the Mine Act] shall be provided by the operator.”  30 U.S.C. § 818(b).   

ARGUMENT 

1. The Secretary Has Plead Sufficient Facts to State a Claim Upon Which Relief 
Can Be Granted 

 
Freedom argues that the Secretary’s allegations are “immaterial” and “conclusory.”  

Freedom’s Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss (“Memo”) at 5-8.  Both contentions 

lack merit. 

A. The Secretary’s allegations are not “immaterial” 
 

Freedom argues that the allegation that MSHA has issued Freedom citations and orders is 

“immaterial” because the Secretary has not alleged how many and which of those citations and 

orders are “final.”  Memo at 5-6.  Freedom cannot claim it does not know which of the citations 

and orders issued to it by MSHA are final.  Freedom, having received the citations and orders 

when they were issued, has that information.1  Thus, the absence of an allegation in the 

complaint regarding how many and which of the citations and orders are final does not render the 

Secretary’s complaint insufficient.  See Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555 (the purpose of notice 

pleading is to “give the defendant fair notice of what the claim is and the grounds upon which it 

rests”).          

In any event, Section 108(a)(2) does not require that the violations forming the pattern be 

“final.”  Section 108(a)(2) requires the Secretary to establish a “pattern of violation,” not a 

“pattern of final orders.”  The Mine Act repeatedly uses the term “violation” to refer to an 

MSHA inspector’s determination that a violation has occurred, whereas the Act uses the term 

                                                 
1 So does the public.  MSHA’s website lists the citations and orders it has issued, and their status, 
by (inter alia) operator.  See www.msha.gov (click on “Mine Data Retrieval System”).    
  

 3

Case: 7:10-cv-00132-ART   Doc #: 36    Filed: 12/14/10   Page: 3 of 14 - Page ID#: 4231

http://www.msha.gov/


“final order” to refer to a Commission2 decision on a contested citation or order or to a citation 

and order that was not contested and has become final by operation of statute.  For example, 

Section 104(a) states that when an MSHA inspector determines that a “violation” of a mandatory 

safety or health standard has occurred, s/he must issue a citation or order.  30 U.S.C. § 814(a).  

Further, the operator must abate that “violation” within the time allowed by the inspector -- 

invariably before any Commission adjudication begins.  Id.  Subsections (b), (d), (e), and (f) of 

Section 104 use the term “violation” in a similar manner.  30 U.S.C. § 814(b), (d), (e), (f). 

Section 105, in contrast, provides that an uncontested citation or order becomes a “final 

order” of the Commission, and that a contested citation or order must be adjudicated by the 

Commission, which then issues an “order” that becomes “final” if not appealed.  30 U.S.C. § 

815(a), (d).  Thus, the term “violation,” as used in the Mine Act, does not mean a citation or 

order that has been litigated to completion in the Secretary’s favor or otherwise finally resolved.  

See Moses v. Providence Hosp. and Medical Centers, Inc., 561 F.3d 573, 587 (6th Cir. 2009) 

(“where Congress includes particular language in one section of a statute but omits it in another 

section of the same Act, it is generally presumed that Congress acts intentionally and purposely 

in the disparate inclusion or exclusion”) (quoting Russello v. United States, 464 U.S. 16, 23 

(1983)).       

Moreover, the purpose of Section 108(a)(2) would be defeated by limiting any individual 

violations used to identify a pattern to “final orders.”  A “final order” indicates only what 

happened in the past.  Section 108(a)(2) is broader than that.  It encompasses not only the past 

                                                 
2 The Federal Mine Safety and Health Review Commission (“the Commission” or “FMSHRC”) 
was created by the Mine Act (see 30 U.S.C. § 823) to (inter alia) adjudicate contested citations 
and orders (see 30 U.S.C. § 815).   
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but also the present and future, requiring the Secretary to show that the operator “is engaged” in 

a pattern of violation that poses a “continuing hazard.”  30 U.S.C. § 818(a)(2) (emphasis added).   

Section 108(a)(2), therefore, does not require that any of the violations forming the 

pattern be final.  Accordingly, the Secretary’s allegation that MSHA issued citations and orders 

to Freedom is not “immaterial,” and the Secretary was not obligated to allege how many and 

which of those citations and orders were “final.”         

 B. The Secretary’s allegations are not conclusory 

Freedom argues that the complaint is conclusory because it merely “parrots the statute.”  

Memo at 6-8.  On the contrary, the complaint informs Freedom of the time period during which 

it is alleged to have engaged in the pattern of violation (July 1, 2008, through the present), the 

standards that were violated (30 C.F.R. §§ 75.202(a), 75.220(a)(1), 75.370(a)(1), 75.400, 75.503, 

and 75.512), the four distinct -- though interrelated -- patterns to which the violations give rise 

(failure to adequately support the roof, face, and ribs; failure to effectively ventilate the mine of 

methane and other gases; failure to clean up accumulations of coal and other combustible 

materials; and failure to properly examine, test, and maintain electrical equipment), and the 

continuing hazards created by those patterns of violation (roof, face, and rib falls; ignitions; fires; 

and explosions).  In light of those factual allegations, the Secretary’s complaint does more than 

merely recite the statutory elements of a Section 108(a)(2) action, and easily contains sufficient 

factual matter to state a claim that is plausible on its face.   

Accordingly, the Secretary has pled sufficient facts to state a plausible claim.3      

                                                 
3 Freedom’s argument also ignores the wealth of factual detail regarding the complaint that is 
contained in the seven declarations and scores of citations and orders attached to her motion for 
preliminary injunction, which was filed simultaneously with the complaint.  Freedom’s 
contention that they are not “appended to the Complaint” (see Memo at 6-7) rings hollow and 
wrongly hearkens back to the days of technical pleading  The Secretary understands that, on a 
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2. The Mine Act Does Not Require the Secretary to Proceed Under Section 
104(e) Before Seeking Injunctive Relief Under Section 108(a)(2) 

 
Freedom argues that the Secretary must attempt -- and fail -- to improve the operator’s 

compliance through the use of Section 104(e) of the Mine Act (30 U.S.C. § 814(e)) before she 

may file an action under Section 108(a)(2).  Memo at 9-28.  Freedom’s argument is premised on 

an incomplete reading of the relevant statutory language.  Whether and when to seek relief under 

Section 108(a)(2) is within the Secretary’s prosecutorial discretion, upon which Congress has not 

placed the limits proposed by Freedom.   

A. Freedom’s argument is based on the flawed premise that Section 108(a)(2) 
merely provides an enhanced remedy when Section 104(e) proves to be 
inadequate 

 
Freedom’s argument is based on the flawed premise that Sections 104(e) and 108(a)(2) 

address essentially the same situation, and that the only difference between the two is that 

Section 108(a)(2) provides a stronger remedy that can be used if the remedy provided by Section 

104(e) proves to be inadequate.4  The fundamental flaw in Freedom’s “enhanced enforcement 

scheme” argument is its failure to account for all of the relevant statutory language.  Section 

104(e) addresses a pattern of violations “which are of such nature as could have significantly and 

substantially contributed to the cause and effect of . . . mine health or safety hazards,” which is to 

                                                                                                                                                             
Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, the Court is generally limited to considering the four corners of 
the complaint.  The Court may, however, consider “the Complaint and any exhibits attached 
thereto, public records, items appearing in the record of the case and exhibits attached to 
defendant's motion to dismiss so long as they are referred to in the Complaint and are central to 
the claims contained therein.”  Bassett v. Nat’l Collegiate Athletic Ass’n, 528, F.3d 426, 430 (6th 
Cir. 2008).     
 
4 The only remedy provided by Section 104(e) is a withdrawal order.  In contrast, Sections 
108(a)(2) and 108(b) authorize the Secretary to request, and the Court to grant, any appropriate 
relief.  Section 108(b) expressly provides that the Court “shall in its order require such assurance 
or affirmative steps as it deems necessary to assure itself that the protection afforded to miners 
under [the Mine Act] shall be provided by the operator.”  30 U.S.C. § 818(b).   
 

 6

Case: 7:10-cv-00132-ART   Doc #: 36    Filed: 12/14/10   Page: 6 of 14 - Page ID#: 4234



say, a pattern of “significant and substantial” (“S&S”) violations.  30 U.S.C. § 814(e)(1).5  In 

contrast, Section 108(a)(2) does not require a pattern of S&S violations, but rather requires a 

“pattern of violation” that poses a “continuing hazard to the health or safety of miners.”  30 

U.S.C. § 818(a)(2).6  Thus, Sections 104(e) and 108(a)(2) are different remedies that address 

different situations.  In other words, Section 108(a)(2) is not simply Section 104(e) on steroids. 

Freedom’s reliance on the regulations the Secretary promulgated to implement Section 

104(e) (30 C.F.R. Part 104) -- including their “administrative due process protections” --  is 

misplaced.  See Memo at 11-14.  Those regulations provide a procedure and criteria for 

determining whether there is a pattern of S&S violations.  The regulations, therefore, are not 

appropriate to apply to the different Section 108(a)(2) determination of whether the operator “is 

engaged” in a “pattern of violation” that poses a “continuing hazard.”7   

Similarly, Freedom is mistaken in claiming that Section 108(a)(2) could not have been 

intended to allow the Secretary to “skip over” the “congressionally mandated” requirement in 

Part 104 that only “final” citations and orders may be used to identify mines with patterns of 

violations.  Memo at 25; see 30 C.F.R. § 104.3(b).  Freedom’s characterization of Section 

104.3(b)’s “final” order requirement as “congressionally mandated” (id.) is incorrect.  Congress 

mandated that the Secretary promulgate regulations to determine when a pattern of violations 

                                                 
5 A “significant and substantial” violation is one that is reasonably likely to result in an event that 
causes a reasonably serious injury.  See, e.g., Mathies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1, 3-4 (1984). 
   
6 The Secretary disagrees with Freedom that there is no import in the fact that Section 104(e)(2) 
uses the term “pattern of violations” whereas Section 108(a)(2) uses the term “pattern of 
violation.”  On the contrary, because the two sections provide different remedies for different 
situations, it is not surprising that Congress did not use the same terms.     
 
7 Indeed, Part 104 does not even require consideration of non-S&S violations.  See 30 C.F.R. §§ 
104.2, 104.3.  Under Section 108(a)(2), however, any violation may be relevant to the 
determination of whether there is a pattern of violation that constitutes a continuing hazard to the 
health or safety of miners.  See 30 U.S.C. § 818(a)(2).   
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exists under Section 104(e).  30 U.S.C. § 814(e)(4).  Congress did not mandate that violations be 

“final” before they could be used to identify a pattern of violations under Section 104(e).  That 

was a discretionary  policy choice made by the Secretary.  Nothing in the Mine Act requires the 

Secretary to apply that same policy under Section 108(a)(2), which, as discussed above, provides 

a different remedy for a different situation.                      

In sum, Freedom’s Section 104(e) argument is premised on incorrect readings of both 

Sections 104(e) and 108(a)(2).8  Those incorrect readings led Freedom to perceive an 

interrelationship between the two sections that does not exist, and to assert that there are 

constraints on the Secretary’s prosecutorial discretion under Section 108(a)(2) that Congress did 

not impose.         

B. Whether and when to initiate an action under Section 108(a)(2) is within 
the Secretary’s prosecutorial discretion 

 
Administrative agencies generally enjoy broad prosecutorial discretion in enforcing the 

statutes they administer.  See Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821, 831 (1985).  The Secretary 

generally enjoys such prosecutorial discretion under the Mine Act.  See Speed Mining, Inc. v. 

FMSHRC, 528 F.3d 310, 317 (4th Cir. 2008) (the Secretary’s discretionary decision whether to 

cite a mine operator or an independent contractor for a violation is unreviewable); Sec’y of Labor 

v. Twentymile Coal Co., 456 F.3d 151, 157-58 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (same).  The exercise of 

prosecutorial discretion has long been held presumptively unreviewable.  See, e.g., Twentymile 

                                                 
8 Based on that incorrect premise, Freedom suggests that Section 104(e) is an administrative 
remedy that must be exhausted before any action under Section 108(a)(2) becomes ripe.  See 
Memo at 27 n.12.  The doctrines of exhaustion of administrative remedies and ripeness, 
however, are intended to ensure that an administrative agency has an opportunity to fully 
consider a matter before judicial review is sought.  See Harry T. Edwards and Linda A. Elliott, 
Federal Courts: Standards of Review (2007), at 116.  Section 108(a)(2) is not a judicial review 
procedure; rather it is a procedure over which the Court has jurisdiction in the first instance.     
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Coal Co., 456 F.3d at 157.  As the Supreme Court has explained, an agency’s exercise of 

prosecutorial discretion is “generally unsuitable for judicial review,” owing to the “complicated 

balancing of a number of factors which are peculiarly within [an agency’s] expertise.”  Heckler, 

470 U.S. at 831.  Congress is presumed to legislate with knowledge of such prevailing legal 

standards.  See, e.g., Commissioner of Internal Rev. v. Keystone Consol. Industries, Inc., 508 

U.S. 152, 159 (1993).  Congress may, of course, limit an agency’s exercise of enforcement 

discretion, Heckler, 470 U.S. at 833, but if it wishes to do so, it must “indicate[ ] an intent to 

circumscribe agency enforcement discretion.”  Id. at 834-35.  Such indication must be clear and 

convincing.  See Owens v. Brock, 860 F.3d 1363, 1367-68 (6th Cir. 1988) (clear and convincing 

evidence of congressional intent is required to displace the traditional presumption of the 

availability of judicial review).   

Section 108(a)(2) imposes only two conditions on the Secretary’s exercise of her 

prosecutorial discretion thereunder: she must (i) believe that the operator is engaged in a pattern 

of violation, which (ii) in her judgment, constitutes a continuing hazard to the health and safety 

of miners.  The statute states that the Secretary “may” seek relief under Section 108(a)(2) 

“whenever” those two conditions are met.  By its terms, therefore, Section 108(a)(2) affords the 

Secretary broad prosecutorial discretion.         

C. Nothing in the Mine Act or its legislative history indicates any 
Congressional intent to limit the Secretary’s discretion under Section 
108(a)(2) in the manner proposed by Freedom 

 
Far from limiting the Secretary’s broad prosecutorial discretion, the Mine Act confirms it.  

Section 108(a)(2)’s use of the term “whenever” removes any doubt as to the scope of the 
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Secretary’s prosecutorial discretion.9  The term “whenever” is here used as a conjunction to 

introduce the two conditions that must be met in order to seek relief thereunder (i.e., pattern of 

violation and continuing hazard).  When used as a conjunction, “whenever” means “at any or 

every time that.”  Merriam-Webster On-Line Dictionary (www.merriam-webster.com) (visited 

Dec. 3, 2010); see Bethlehem Steel Corp. v. United States Envt’l Protection Agency, 723 F.2d 

1303, 1306 (7th Cir. 1993); see generally Semmler v. American Honda Co., Inc., 990 F. Supp. 

967, 981-82 (S.D. Ohio 1997) (extensive discussion of meaning of “whenever”).10  Thus, the 

word “whenever” in Section 108(a)(2) essentially means “in any or every instance that” or, more 

simply, “if.”  Congress could have -- but did not -- add to Section 108(a)(2)’s two conditions a 

requirement that the Secretary must have previously attempted (and failed) to achieve 

compliance under Section 104(e).  See Traverse Bay Intermediate School Dist. v. Michigan 

Dep’t of Ed., 615 F.3d 622, 630 (6th Cir. 2010) (it is a long-established canon of statutory 

interpretation that the mention of one thing implies the exclusion of another).          

Section 104(e) itself states what course the Secretary should pursue if, after a previous 

pattern determination has been terminated, the pattern resurfaces.11  Contrary to Freedom’s 

suggestion that the next step is Section 108(a)(2), Section 104(e)(3) states that “paragraphs (1) 

and (2) shall again be applicable to the operator.”  30 U.S.C. § 814(e)(3).  In other words, the 

Section 104(e) process begins anew.  That is not the language that Congress would have chosen 

                                                 
9 The word “whenever” is used in a similar manner in Section 108(a)(1), which authorizes the 
Secretary to seek injunctive (or other appropriate) relief “whenever” an operator takes, or refuses 
to take, certain actions.  30 U.S.C. § 818(a)(1).   
  
10 When used as an adverb, “whenever” means “at whatever time.”  Id.   
 
11 If an operator fails to comply with a Section 104(e) withdrawal order, the Secretary may ask a 
court to enjoin compliance under Section 108(a)(1)(A) (30 U.S.C. § 818(a)(1)(A)). 
   

 10

Case: 7:10-cv-00132-ART   Doc #: 36    Filed: 12/14/10   Page: 10 of 14 - Page ID#: 4238

http://www.merriam-webster.com/


to use had it intended Section 104(e) to be a prerequisite to the Secretary seeking relief under 

Section 108(a)(2).     

Where, as here, the statutory language is clear, there is no need for the Court to inquire 

further.  Detroit Receiving Hosp. v. Sebelius, 573 F.3d 609, 613 (6th Cir. 2009).  Even if the 

statutory language is ambiguous, however, the Secretary’s interpretation as described above is 

reasonable and deserving of deference.  See, e.g., Pendley v. FMSHRC, 601 F.3d 417, 423 n.2 

(6th Cir. 2010).  Nor is the Secretary’s interpretation merely a litigating position.  Rather, the 

Secretary’s interpretation is embodied in her Part 104 regulations and, therefore, is entitled to full 

“Chevron” deference.  Chao v. Occupational Safety and Health Rev. Comm’n, 540 F.3d 519, 

526-27 (6th Cir. 2008).12  The Part 104 regulations establish criteria only for determining when a 

pattern of S&S violations exists, but does not address the Section 108(a)(2) determination of 

when an operator is engaged in a pattern of violation that constitutes a continuing hazard to the 

health or safety of miners.  See 30 C.F.R. §§ 104.2, 104.3.  Thus, Part 104 makes clear that the 

Secretary does not view a Section 104(e) “pattern of violations” determination as a prerequisite 

for proceeding under Section 108(a)(2).  See generally Auer v. Robbins, 519 U.S. 452, 461 

(1997) (the Secretary’s interpretation of her own regulation is controlling unless plainly 

erroneous or inconsistent with the regulation). 

Nothing in the legislative history is to the contrary.  Freedom cites the following 

statement in the Conference Report as evidence that “confirms unequivocally” Congress’ intent 

that the Secretary proceed under Section 104(e) before resorting to Section 108(a)(2):  “the 

Secretary may seek this remedy [i.e., a Section 108(a)(2) injunction] when the withdrawal orders 

available to h[er], including the section 104(e) procedure, ha[ve] been unsuccessful in achieving 

                                                 
12 See Chevron v. Natural Resources Defense Council, 467 U.S. 837, 842-43 (1984).   
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lasting compliance with the Act and its requirements.”  Conf. Rep., S. Rep. 95-461 at 56 (1977); 

see Memo at 9, 27.  That statement, however, is anything but unequivocal.  It is entirely 

consistent with Section 108(a)(2)’s provision that the Secretary may seek relief thereunder 

“whenever” there is a “pattern of violation” that poses a “continuing hazard.”  Nothing in the 

cited statement suggests that the situation mentioned was the only situation in which the 

Secretary could proceed under Section 108(a)(2).  Rather, the statement merely offers that 

situation as one example of when the Secretary “may” proceed under Section 108(a)(2).  Indeed, 

as Freedom acknowledges, the very same passage in the legislative history states that (what was 

to become) Section 108(a)(2) was not meant to “duplicate” Section 104(e) but, rather, “to 

provide the Secretary with additional flexibility in dealing with habitual or chronic violators.”  

Id.  Freedom’s reading, however, would do precisely the opposite: it would put the Secretary in 

an administrative straight jacket.13 

In sum, neither the Mine Act nor its legislative history evinces any congressional intent to 

impose Freedom’s proposed limitations on the Secretary’s prosecutorial discretion under Section 

108(a)(2).   

CONCLUSION 

In enacting the Mine Act, Congress declared “the first priority and concern of all in the 

coal . . . mining industry to be the health and safety of its most precious resource -- the miner.”  

30 U.S.C. § 801(a).  Congress did not intend to hold the health and safety of miners hostage to 

                                                 
13 Freedom further argues that a bill proposing to change the phrase “pattern of violation” in 
Section 108(a)(2) to “course of conduct” was intended to eliminate the requirement that the 
Secretary proceed under Section 104(e) before proceeding under Section 108(a)(2) -- and that 
Congress’ failure to enact the bill indicates Congress’ intent to require exhaustion.  Memo at 20-
21.  Failed attempts to amend legislation, however, are “not helpful in determining the intent of 
the Congress that enacted” it.  Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Cisneros, 52 F.3d 1351, 1358-59 (6th 
Cir. 1995) (“[p]roposed legislation can fail for many reasons”).  
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hyper-technical rules of pleading or second-guessing of the Secretary’s prosecutorial discretion.  

The Secretary “may” seek relief under Section 108(a)(2) “whenever” -- in her prosecutorial 

discretion -- she believes there is a “pattern of violation” that, in her judgment, constitutes a  

“continuing hazard to the health or safety of miners.”  The Secretary therefore urges the Court to  

 13
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 14

deny the defendants’ motion to dismiss. 

Respectfully submitted, 
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